TOPOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES of the COUNTY of ESSEX.

The Massachusetts Magazine; or, Monthly Museum. Containing the Literature, History, Politics, Art...Jan 1792; 4, 1; American Periodicals pg. 9

FOR THE MASSACHUSETTS MAGAZINE.

TOPOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES of the COUNTY of ESSEX.

THE county of Effex is bounded on the North by the State of on the North by the State of New-Hampfhire, Eaft by the Atlantick, South and Well by the county of Middlefex and Chelfea in the county of Suffolk. The first lettlement within the bounds of Maffachuletts (proper) was here made in 1628, by John Endicott, Esquire, one of the original patentees, and many years Governour of the colony. It was made a county in 1643, being one of the three original Shires into which the colony was first divided. It contains at this day twenty two townfhips, which with the number of houfes, families and inhabitants, as afcertained by the late cenfus, are here arranged according to the dates of their feveral incorporations.

	Date.	Rouf.	Fam.	Inhab.
Salem,	1628	928	1493	7921
Iplwich,	1634		881	456z
Newbury,	1635			397z
Lynn,	1637			2295
Gloucester,	1639			5317
Rowley,	1639			1772
Salifbury,	1640			1778
Wenham,	1643			502
Mancheller,	1645		106	965
Haverhill,	1645		-	2402
Andover,	1646			2863
Marblenead,	1649			5660
Topsfield,	1650			780
Amelbury,	1668			1805
Beverly,	1668			3290
'Bradford,	1675			1372
Boxford,	1685			
Methuen,	1727			925
Middleton,	• •		•	1293
Danvers,	1728			682
Newburyport,	1757			2425
Lynnfield,	1764			4837
wynnielu,	1782	66	82	491

This county pays about one feventh part of the State Tax, elects fix Senators and Counfellors for the government of the Commonwealth, and one Reprefentative in the Legislature of the United States.

The face of the country is pleafingly variegated with hills, vales, woods, and plains. A great number of ponds well flored with fifh of various kinds are interspersed through the country. These give rife to numerous streams, on which are feated mills for the various neceffary uses of the people. The land is generally fruitful, but is laid to be peculiarly favourable to barley, which yields the most certain crop; the ears are fuller, and the grain larger and fairer than in any other part of the State. The fea coaft is indented with a number of good harbours, and feveral rivers pafs into the fea within the bounds of the county. Merrimack river interfects it entirely; on the north fide of which are the towns of Salifbury, Amelbury, Haverhill and Methuen. These all extend three miles from the river to the line of Newhampshire.

Salifbury adjoins the fea coaft and contains two parifhes. It is feparated from Amelbury by Powow river, which has its rife in Kingston, Newhampshire, in its course palling over feveral falls, on which are mills of various kinds. It is navigable one mile from its mouth andm, any veffels are built on its banks. Near its junction with the Merrimack a convenient bridge is crected across it, furnished with a draw, forming the communication between Salifbury and Amelbury, feven miles from the fea. Adjoining the feacoast and on the banks of Merrimack river, are large tracts of marsh, where are annually cut great quantities of falt hay. The most ancient settlement in this town is in the lower parish, at which place the General Court of the former province of Maffachufetts bay was fometimes held. The part of the town at prefent most flourishing, is a point of land formed by the junction of Merrimack and Powow rivers. Here is a village very pleafantly fituated on the bank of the Merrimack, where, before the revolution war, shipbuilding was carried on to a confiderable extent, which, though now much decreafed, is ftill not wholly laid afide; and this, with its auxiliary trades and fome little navigation owned and fitted here,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

gives the place a very lively and bufy appearance. The continental frigate Alliance was built at this place under the direction of Mr. Hacket, a very respectable naval architect.

Next to Salifbury is Amefbury ; containing alfo two parifhes. At the lowr part of this town adjoining to Powow river is a compact fettlement confifting of one fireet near a mile long, where are feveral thops of goods and the various kinds of handicrafts usual in this country. Another fmall village, there called Amefbury Mills, though lying principally in Salifbury, is formed around the lower falls of Powow river, mentioned before. At this place the water falls about one hundred feet within the diffance of fifty perches, and in its defeent carries one bloomery, five faw mills, feven grift mills, two linfeed oil mills, one fulling mill, and one fnuff mill, befides feveral wheels, auxiliary to different labours. The rapid fall of the water, the dams at very fhort diffances croffing the river, the various wheels and mills arifing almost immediately one over a-nother, and the very irregular and grotefque fituation of the houfes and other buildings on the adjoining grounds, give this place a romantick appearance, and afford in the whole one of the most singular views to be found in this country. In the eastern part of the town, belide the incorporated congregation, are a prefbyterian church, a meeting of friends, and a fmall fociety of feparatifts, who call themfelves baptifts and receive the inftructions of a lay-exhorter. Several attempts have been made to effablish an epifcopal church here, and more than once a houle for worfhip in this kind has been fet up, but from the finall number of perfons of that perfualion or fome other caufe, thefe attempts have proved abortive. The bufinefs of thip building was heretofore conducted with spirit in this place, but as in other places on the river Merrimack, it is confiderably lellened. The land is in general of a ftrong and excellent quality and is well cultivated. It was heretofore remarkable for the quantity and quality of the cyder made, but the decay of their orchards and the difheartening

ravages of the canker worm, have almost annihilated this branch of husbandry.

Haverhill is the next town in order on the river and confifts of four parifhes, befides a respectable congregation of Anabaptifts, formed from this and the adjoining towns. The inhabitants are principally devoted to hufbandry, except at the place emphatically called the torun, where is a compact fettlement extending a mile on The people here are the river. chiefly employed in commerce and the mechanick arts. Travellers are ftruck with the pleafantnefs of this fitnation, and a number of neat and well finished houses give it a confiderable appearance of elegance. Here are three diffilleries, one of which has lately undergone a laudable tranfmutation into a brewery. Some veffels are annually built here, and feveral are employed in the Well India trade; but the bufinefs of the place is very fenfibly lefs than before the revolu-A manufactory of fail cloth tion. was begun here in 1789, and is faid to be in a promifing way.

Methuen adjoins Haverhill and extends on the river to Dracut in the county of Middlefex. It contains two parifhes. Hufbandry and the cutting and marketing of lumber divide the attention of the inhabitants. The latter branch of business has, it is conceived, been followed too much to the detriment of the interest of agriculture. But it is faid the people are now devoting more of their attention to the cultivation of their grounds, which will of courfe foon wear a more thriving afpect. The land is very various, but the town is faid to contain its proportion of good foil, and the prefent rough and barren appearance of a great part of it is rather to be imputed to the neglect of cultivation than to any original ill quality of the ground.

Paffing over the river we enter Andover, divided into two parifhes. The general appearance of this place is thriving, and, for an agricultural town, the buildings, publick and private, are in a ftyle of uncommon neatnefs and elegance. The land is of an excellent quality and under handfome cultivation,

eultivation, particularly that part of it which is watered by Shawfbeen river, a confiderable ftream which takes its rife in Bedford in the county of Middlefex, and paffing through Billerica, Tewkfbury and Andover, difcharges itself into Merrimack river, at this latter place. In the fouth parish are a powder mill, and paper mill. From the former of thefe large fupplies were furnished to the army during the late war; the paper mill is yet in its infancy, but has already exhibited specimens of its manufacture of an excellent fabrick. These are both owned by the Hon. Mr. Phillips, Prefident of the Senate, a native inhabitant of this town, whole unwearied attention to the political, manufactural and literary interests of his country are too well known to need an enconium here, and have endeared his name to the citizens of the Commonwealth in general, and especially to those of the county of Effex. Under his aufpices and by the liberal benefactions of his father, the late Hon. Samuel Philips of Andover, and of the Hon. John Phillips, L. L. D. of Exeter in the State of New-Hampfhire, an academy was infituted in this town in the year 1778, and in the year 1780 an act passed the Legislature incorporating the gentlemen above named, with fundry other refpectable characters, by the name of " the Truftees of Phillips's Academy in Andover." *

The appointments of this Seminary are liberal. A preceptor, an alliftant preceptor, and a teacher of writing and practical mathematics are at prefent well fupported, and the funds are faid to be in a growing flate. Within its original defign fome higher branches of learning may be taught as ability and opportunity fhall arife.

Bradford is eaftward of Andover on the river, and is divided into two parishes. The land is in general good and well cultivated. In the upper part of the town confiderable quantities of leather fhoes are manufactured and vended for use and exportation in the commercial towns. In the lower parifh fome veffels are built for merchants in other places. Several ftreams fall into Merrimack river in this town, which fupport a number of mills of various kinds.

Below Bradford and extending from thence to the fea is Newbury, containing five parishes, besides a lociety of Friends or Quakers. The inhabitants are principally employed in hufbandry, and have in general the happinels of a grateful foil that well rewards their industry. The land, particularly in that part of the town which lies on Merrimack river, and is here diffinguished by the name of Newbury-Newtown, is of a superior quality, under the beft cultivation, and is faid by travellers to be equal in appearance to lome of the mollimproved parts of Great Britain. From fome of the high lands a very extenfive and variegated view is had of the furrounding country, the rivers, the bay, and the fea coaft from Cape Ann to York in the province of Maine, On one of these heights, called Spring Hill, and in a most commanding situation, is the elegant fummer refidence of the Hon. Mr. Dalton, late of the Federal Senate, who, to the character of a fratefman and gentleman adds the no lefs honourable diffinction of a fagacious and enterprising husbandman. Some few vellels are here owned and employed in the fifthery, part of which are fitted out from Parker river. This river takes its rife in Rowley, and after a course of a few miles paffes into the found which feparates Plumb island from the main land. It is navigable about two miles from its mouth, where a bridge crofles it 870 feet long and 26 feet wide, confifting of nine folid piers and eight wooden arches. This bridge, built in the year 1758, is on the post road rom

* This name diffinguishes this infitution from a fimilar one in New-Hampshire called *Pbillip's Exeter Academy*, founded folely by the Hon. Dr. Phillips, the funds of which are faid to exceed £10,000 currency. In addition to these foundations, this gentleman has been by far the nort munificent benefactor to *Darimouth University*. Such wise and pious distributions of property in the life time of the possibility are the most honourable difplay of genuine publick spirit and disintercited patriotism; and the man who thus nobly triumphs over the fordid dictates of avarice or a mistaken felf intercil, has furely a better with to be canonized than a whole host of legendary Saints and Martyrs.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

from Bofton to the eaftward, and is fupported by a toll under the management of a truffee, who accounts annually to the court of feffions for the county, and is removeable by them at pleafure. About three miles higher up the river is another bridge fupported at the charge of the county.

In a quarry of lime ftone in *Byfield* parifh is found the *Afbeflos*, or incombuffible cotton, as it is fometimes called. Marble has been found in the fame vicinity, and it is conjectured that there are confiderable beds of it. The fpecimens already exhibited have been beautifully variegated in colour and admitted an admirable polifh.

Dummer Academy, in Newbury, was established in 1763. Its appointments depend principally on the rent of a large and valuable farm, devifed by his Honour William Dummer, Elg. formerly Lieutenant Governor of the province, for the lupport of a perpetual grammar fchool in this place. The election of the preceptor was by the Governor's will, vefted in the minister of the parish of Byfield for the time being and a committee of the parish chosen for that purpose, and he was made removeable by the government of Harvard College. Some apprehenfions that the laudable intentions of the donor might in a future time be frustrated, induced the Legiflature in 1782, on the application of the late venerable Dr. Chauncy, fole furviving executor of Mr. Dummer's will, to incorporate certain refpectable truffees with entire powers of managing the effates and of electing and removing the preceptor. The Academy is fituated in a healthful and pleafant place, retired from the noife and vices of the bufy world; and is at prefent under the tuition of the Rev. Ifaac Smith, A. M. who has been lately inducted to the preceptor's chair, and whofe amiable virtues and respectable talents infure to the youth committed to his charge the full advantage of a regular and happy inftitution in the paths of virtue and fcience.

Newbury Port, originally part of Newbury, from which its incorporation detached it in 1764, and by which and Merrimack river it is wholly en-

circled, is perhaps the most limited in its extent of land of any township in the commonwealth, containing but about 640 acres. Here are four houses for publick worthip, viz. one Epifcopalian, one Prefbyterian and two Congregational. It was formerly remark. able for the number of veffels annually built here; but fince the commencement of the late war, this bufinefs has in a great degree failed and no manufacture of confequence has yet fupplied its place. The continental frigates Bolton and Hancock, were built here, belides many large private armed hips during the war. The trade to the Weft Indies is carried on here with much spirit and to a great amount. Large quantities of rum are distilled, which is principally exported to the Southern States. Some veffels are employed in the freighting business, and a few in the In November 1790 there filhery. were owned in this port fix thips, 45 fchooners, and 28 brigantines, 39 floops, making in the whole 11,870 tons. A term of the Courts of Common Pleas and General Selfions is held here on the last Tuesday of September.

Merrimack River is navigable for veffels of burthen about twenty miles from its mouth, where it is obstructed by the first falls or rapids called Mitchel's Eddy, between Bradford and Haverhill. Vast quantities of ship timber, ranging timber, plank, deals; clapboards, shingles, staves, and other lumber, are brought down in rafts, to constructed as to passall the falls on the river except those of Amuskeeg in New-Hampshire, and Pautuket between Chelmsford and Dracut in the county of Middlefex. In the fpring and fummer confiderable quantities of falmon, fhad and alewives are caught, which are either used as bait in the cod fifhery, or pickled and fhipped to the Weft Indies.

Within the county of Effex are twelve ferries acrofs Merrimack river, at all of which, except the one between Newbury Port and Salifbury, the rates of ferriage are equal and moderate, being fixed by the Court of Seffions. That particular ferry claims an exemption from the jurifdiction of the Court

Court of Seffions, and partly from the high rate of ferriage, and partly from the great want of difpatch, it is now very little frequented, the principal paffage of travellers being over Swaley's ferry, about three miles above Newbury Port. A petition was prefented the last sellion of the General Court by fundry gentlemen, of Newbury Port and its vicinity, praying for liberty to erect a bridge across the river about two miles above the town. Every good citizen wifnes well to this publick spirited enterprize, while many confiderate perfons are extremely doubtful of its feafibility. The Bar acrofs the mouth of this river is a very great incumbrance to the navigation and is efpecially terrible to ftrangers. There are fixteen feet of water upon it at common tides. At the close of the late war a voluntary affociation of the merchants of Newbury Port was formed for the fupport of two fmall

heights on the larboard hand at entering the river, as a guide in passing this bar in the night. In 1787 the General Court granted a fum of money for the erection of two inflicient light houfes, and made the maintenance of them a publick charge. Thefe, together with the buoys in the river, by the federal conflictution and the ceffion of the commonwealth, are now maintained at the expense of the general government. The houles are of wood and contrived to be removed at pleafure, to as to be always conformed to the hifting of the bar, and thus the fingle rule of bringing them in a line will be the only necessary direction for veffels approaching the harbour, and by this direction they may fail with fafety, until they are abreast of the lights, where is a bold fhore and good anchoring ground. (To be continued.)

Company of a second statement with the second second

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.